STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County
Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

 ORIGINAL
RECEIVED
MAY 15 2017
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES ARCHIE CREWS, IV,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000670

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in charging the jury, over objection, that the complainant's testimony need not be corroborated by other evidence in contravention of State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 3, 2015, a Dorchester County grand jury indicted Appellant for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree (2013-GS-18-1838). R. 338-339. The state, represented by Sheila Mims and Phil Giese, called the case to trial on March 14, 2016, before the Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein and a jury. R. 1. Ash Chisholm and John Loy represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 329, ll. 11-16. On March 18, 2016, Judge Goodstein sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment. R. 335, ll. 17-20; R. 340.

Trial counsel filed a notice of appeal on March 24, 2016, which was served on opposing counsel on the same day. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in charging the jury, over objection, that the complainant's testimony need not be corroborated by other evidence in contravention of *State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016).

Relevant facts

State's case-in-chief

The state's case consisted of three main witnesses: Minor 1, his mother, and the nurse who examined him.¹ The state offered no physical or forensic evidence, except to the extent the video recorded interview of Minor 1 by the forensic interviewer would be considered forensic evidence. The nurse who examined Minor 1 found no physical findings to support Minor 1's accusations. Rather, the nurse and mother were presented as witnesses to testify that Minor 1 had disclosed instances of sexual abuse to them. However, the examination of those witnesses revealed inconsistencies with the stories told by Minor 1 at trial. Further, the video recorded interview – the forensic interview – revealed additional inconsistencies in Minor 1's revelations of alleged sexual abuse.

Minor 1

¹The state also called Millicent Walker, a forensic interviewer at the Dorchester Children's Center, who interviewed Minor 1 on November 14, 2013. R. 238, ll. 9-20. Her testimony was limited to laying a foundation for the introduction of the video recording of the forensic interview of Minor 1. R. 239, ll. 22-24; State's Exhibit #4. The state also called Kendra Twitty, a forensic interviewer and therapist at Hope Haven, a children's advocacy center and rape crisis center. She testified as an expert in the field of child-abuse dynamics. R. 120, ll. 13-23; R. 124, ll. 3-4. Twitty's testimony consisted of explaining her experience of how children recall information. According to her experience, children who experienced trauma do not "remember things in, like, a linear fashion.... They remember, like, flashbulbs or kind of a snapshot of a memory to recall their traumatic experience." R. 124, ll. 11-20. She also explained that children who are abused do not tell right away – something called "delayed disclosure." R. 125, ll. 4-9. She provided multiple reasons for delayed disclosure. R. 125, l. 10 – R. 126, l. 1. Twitty had never met Minor 1 and offered no evidence to corroborate his testimony. R. 129, ll. 17-20.

Not only was Appellant Minor 1's stepfather for as long as eleven-year old Minor 1 could remember, but Minor 1 claimed Appellant had been sexually assaulting him back to his earliest memories. R. 54, ll. 14-25; R. 78, ll. 10-11; R. 81, ll. 3-24. According to Minor 1, the abuse occurred continuously – "There wasn't a break." R. 92, ll. 2-7. During the trial, Minor 1 told the jurors that the last encounter was on November 11, 2013, the day before Minor 1 and his mother went to the police. R. 111, l. 25 – R. 112, l. 6. However, he told the forensic interviewer that the last encounter was on October 31, 2013, which he remembered because this was his mother's birthday. State's Exhibit #4 at 17:49. Initially, Minor 1 told the police that Appellant made him have sex with him thirty-four times, but at trial Minor 1 claimed "[i]t happened way more than that many." R. 112, ll. 15 – R. 113, l. 1. Oddly, Minor 1 told the forensic interviewer the abuse was only a couple of times. State's Exhibit #4 at 17:58. At trial, Minor 1 claimed Appellant did "the bad stuff" to him "[a] couple times a week, like three, maybe four times a week" "[w]henver [his] mom and [his] sister were gone." R. 68, ll. 2-11.

When asked to describe the alleged abuse at trial, Minor 1 claimed Appellant made him put his mouth on his penis. R. 57, ll. 11-20. He recalled the first time this happened, but could not remember how old he was at the time. R. 57, ll. 21-23; R. 58, ll. 21-22. According to Minor 1, he went into the family's living room at Appellant's request. R. 57, l. 24 – R. 58, l. 1. Appellant pulled down his pants and told him to put his mouth on his penis. R. 57, l. 25 – R. 58, l. 6. Minor 1 was on his knees and Appellant made him "do, like, a rock-back-and-forth motion with [his] head." R. 58, ll. 7-11. Appellant then instructed Minor 1 to go to his sister's room and remove his clothing, which he did. R. 59, ll. 1-3. Minor 1 claimed Appellant entered sister's room, either completely naked upon entry or removing his clothes after entry, and put his penis in Minor 1's butt. R. 59, ll. 3-4; R. 59, ll. 5-7. During this encounter, Minor 1 claimed he was

on his hands and knees as Appellant had instructed. R. 59, ll. 11-14. He further claimed that Appellant “did a rock-back-and-forth motion” while his penis was in Minor 1’s butt. R. 59, l. 24 – R. 60, l. 1. “After that,” according to Minor 1, Appellant “laid back on his back and some white stuff came out of his penis” and “went on his stomach.” R. 60, ll. 6-15.² Appellant wiped it off using sister’s blankets, and the two “went on with [their] day.” R. 60, ll. 16-19. Finally, Minor 1 claimed Appellant told him to keep it a secret, which he did, initially. R. 60, ll. 20-23.

Minor 1 claimed another sexual encounter happened when his nephew was present. However, Minor 1’s nephew did not testify at trial. According to Minor 1, Appellant threatened that if he sucked his thumb, then “the bad stuff would happen.” R. 61, ll. 15-21. Despite Minor 1’s best efforts, he was unable to resist the temptation and sucked on his thumb. As a result, “the bad stuff happened.” R. 61, ll. 23-24. According to Minor 1, Appellant caught him sucking his thumb and instructed him to go to sister’s room and take off his clothes, which he did. R. 62, ll. 19-24. Thereafter, according to Minor 1, Appellant put his penis in his butt and put his penis in Minor 1’s mouth. R. 63, ll. 1-2.

Minor 1 told the jurors that the “bad stuff” usually happened in sister’s room, but it also happened on the couch in the living room. R. 63, ll. 18-23. He claimed that “one time,” while Appellant was in the bathtub, he made Minor one put his mouth on his penis. R. 63, l. 24 – R. 64, l. 1; R. 88, l. 19 – R. 89, l. 2. Minor 1 remained outside the bathtub, but managed to put his mouth on Appellant’s penis while Appellant was lying in the bathtub and “do the rock-back-and-forth motion.” R. 64, ll. 4-8; R. 89, l. 5-15. When Appellant instructed him to stop, he did, “went back out and went on with [his] day.” R. 64, ll. 8-9.

² During the forensic interview, Minor 1 said the stuff that came out was “black and white.” State’s Exhibit #4 at 18:04. Upon further leading questions from the interviewer, Minor 1 said the stuff was gray. State’s Exhibit #4 at 18:04. Upon additional leading questions, Minor 1 said the stuff was clear and rescinded his earlier statement about black. State’s Exhibit #4 at 18:04.

Another place where “the bad stuff” happened was the shed, according to Minor 1. R. 68, ll. 21-25. Minor 1 described Appellant sitting in a chair and making him put his mouth on his penis. R. 70, ll. 3-8. Upon further prodding by the solicitor, Minor 1 claimed Appellant pulled his pants down to enable the encounter. R. 71, ll. 1-4. He also claimed that Appellant made him get on his knees in order to put his mouth on his penis. R. 71, ll. 5-8. Finally, Minor 1 claimed that Appellant made him look at magazines filled with “naked pictures of people” in the shed. R. 71, ll. 11-16. The people in the magazines were “[d]oing the things that [Appellant] would make [Minor 1] do.” R. 71, ll. 19-21. He even saw a picture of a girl with a penis in one of the magazines. R. 71, ll. 22-25. In complete contradiction to this testimony, during the forensic interview, Minor 1 specifically denied seeing pictures of people with no clothes in any form – photographs, cell phone, computer, movies. State’s Exhibit #4 at 18:11. No magazines – and no pornography – of any sort were introduced at trial.

Minor 1 claimed Appellant would put something on his penis prior to inserting it into his anus. He was unsure what it was, but claimed it was from a tube. R. 63, ll. 3-13. However, during his forensic interview, Minor 1 stated he did not know if Appellant put anything on his penis. State’s Exhibit #4 at 17:52. At trial, he also claimed that “a couple times [Appellant] wore this - - it was a cheetah-looking short dress. It was - - it was tiny. It was, like a cheetah dress, super tiny.” R. 72, ll. 20-24. When the solicitor prodded for more information on this point, Minor 1 said, “It wasn’t, like, a dress. It was - - no, it wasn’t like a dress.” R. 72, l. 25 – R. 73, l. 2. However, he said it was not for a man. R. 73, ll. 3-4.

He also described Appellant has have a “hard,” “hairy,” “dark brown” penis. R. 75, ll. 5-18. This too was in direct contradiction to his statements to the forensic interviewer that the top of Appellant’s penis turned white. State’s Exhibit #4 at 18:05. On cross-examination, Minor 1

even claimed that Appellant made Minor 1 place his penis into Appellant's butt. R. 82, ll. 14-15. In addition to the "white stuff" being wiped on sister's blanket, Minor 1 said the "white stuff" was on the couch, living room floor, and anywhere else where Appellant was during the encounters. R. 96, ll. 1-24.

Despite these numerous accusations, the state failed to produce any lubricant recovered from the home, a cheetah print dress or shirt, or any items of evidence from the home containing Appellant's DNA or even the presence of sperm and/or semen.

When Minor 1 was nine-years old, he told his mother about the alleged abuse after his mother and Appellant argued and separated. When his mother asked Minor 1 if she should give Appellant another chance, Minor 1 said, "no, no, no." R. 73, ll. 10-16. His mother questioned him on his response and he "told her a couple of lies." R. 73, ll. 16-19. When his mother did not believe the "lies," he told her "about the stuff that [Appellant] was doing." R. 73, ll. 19-20. His mother called the police. R. 73, ll. 24-25. Minor 1 saw a doctor and spoke to a woman at the Dorchester County Children's Center. R. 74, ll. 5-10.

Minor 1 admitted that his trial testimony differed from statements he had made previously. R. 102, l. 24 – R. 103, l. 1; R. 105, ll. 8-10; R. 109, ll. 3-7. He candidly admitted he had not told the police, the medical doctor, or the forensic interviewer about the sexual encounters in the shed or the one encounter in the bathtub. R. 83, l. 23 – R. 84, l. 17; R. 94, ll. 18-23. Minor 1 never told the police or the forensic interviewer regarding Appellant wearing a cheetah print shirt/dress. R. 104, ll. 5-14. He claimed he remembered the bathtub incident while "watching [his] phone." R. 94, l. 24 – R. 95, l. 2; R. 109, ll. 11-14. The incidents involving the cheetah outfit and the magazines "just came" to him. R. 109, l. 18 – R. 110, l. 7. He also reviewed a prior statement in which he claimed he was abused in the bedroom shared by his

mother and Appellant, but claimed he was not thinking clearly when he said that because it “definitely never happened in their room.” R. 94, ll. 4-11. During his forensic interview, Minor 1 told the interviewer that the last incident occurred on October 31, 2013, which was his mother’s birthday. State’s Exhibit #4 at 17:49. However, at trial, Minor 1 claimed nothing happened on that date, and that the last encounter was on November 11, 2013. R. 110, l. 19 – R. 111, l. 6; R. 114, ll. 10-14.

Although Minor 1 claimed his older sister witnessed multiple incidents of sexual abuse, sister did not testify at the trial. R. 98, l. 20 – R. 99, l. 22; State’s Exhibit #4 at 18:06.

Tara Crews

Tara Crews, Appellant’s wife and Minor 1’s mother, confirmed that on November 12, 2013, Minor 1 told her Appellant was sexually abusing him. R. 141, ll. 9-12; R. 148, ll. 13-15; R. 150, l. 21. Tara claimed she and Appellant had argued because of Appellant “dressing like a woman.” R. 148, ll. 20-24. When Appellant left for school, Minor 1 approached her and asked if she was going “to try to make this work” with Appellant. R. 150, ll. 7-9. Tara claimed Minor 1’s face was “totally white” with “fear” and she asked him to tell her what was wrong. R. 150, ll. 9-16. According to Tara, Minor 1 said, “he rapes me.” R. 150, ll. 19-20.

Tara admitted that although she was no longer living in the residence she once shared with Appellant, she still owned the home. R. 152, ll. 8-17. Between November 2013, when she and Minor 1 went to the police to report the alleged abuse and March 2016, when Appellant was tried, the police never asked to search the home. R. 158, ll. 4-8. Tara would have readily consented to a search, and permitted law enforcement to seize any items of potential evidence, including bedding, furniture coverings, and even sections of the carpet. R. 158, ll. 9-21.

Ashleigh Benda

Ashleigh Benda, a registered nurse at MUSC Children's Hospital, testified as an expert in the field of child abuse pediatrics. R. 163, ll. 20-23; R. 164, ll. 8-9; R. 166, ll. 23-25. She examined Minor 1 on November 14, 2013, two days after he reported the alleged misconduct to the police. R. 167, ll. 6-9; R. 174, ll. 14-17; R. 178, ll. 14-18. Benda found no signs of sexual abuse despite a full body examination. R. 171, ll. 12-21; R. 191, ll. 17-23. According to Benda, "all the studies and literature out there and our state protocol," provide that an examination should occur in an emergency room setting if the date of the last sexual contact was within thirty-six hours of the examination. R. 173, ll. 2-7. Benda explained the protocol would allow emergency room examination "up to 72 hours depending on the type of abuse." R. 173, ll. 7-8. However, "[a]fter 72 hours, the yield of finding evidence, finding injury, getting any kind of information or diagnostic findings is so low," the examination would be conducted in an outpatient setting. R. 173, ll. 9-13; R. 190, ll. 17-20. It was Benda's understanding based on information provided by Minor 1 that the last date of sexual contact was October 31, 2013, a date very much outside the 36-hour and 72-hour windows. R. 189, ll. 11-15; R. 193, ll. 16-20. Benda explained that one of the reasons why she may not have found any physical evidence of abuse was due to timing. R. 173, ll. 14-19. Minor 1 reported to Benda there had been "just a couple" of instances of abuse. R. 187, ll. 18-21.

Charge Conference

At the conclusion of the presentation of the evidence, the judge engaged the lawyers in a charge conference. The state requested the judge instruct the jury on "the 16-3-657 language regarding the child's testimony need not be corroborated." R. 256, ll. 8-11. The judge agreed to the request. R. 256, l. 12. Trial counsel immediately objected, but the judge insisted that in

order to “preserve” the objection, trial counsel would need to object “after the charge.” R. 256, ll. 15-19.

State’s Closing Arguments

The prosecutor’s central theme in closing was that Minor 1’s testimony “need not be corroborated” in this case. R. 262, ll. 20-23.³ The prosecutor instructed the jury on how to determine a witness’s credibility, including demeanor, consistency over time, opportunity to know the facts testified to, and bias. R. 261, l. 23 – R. 262, l. 11. She then told the jury that corroboration could be used to determine a person’s credibility and that “corroboration is when one witness tells you something and another witness says something similar. Are they corroborating each other.” R. 262, ll. 13-18. Immediately thereafter, the prosecutor told the jurors

Now, this is very important when you are dealing with these cases. The testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in prosecutions under South Carolina code of law 16-3-652 through 16-3-658. And criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree falls within this statute. If you believe the testimony that you heard of [Minor 1], under our law that is enough to find [Appellant] guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree.

R. 262, l. 19 – R. 263, l. 3.

According to the prosecutor, “the crux of this whole case” was Minor 1’s testimony that Appellant sexually abused him. R. 265, l. 21. “The rest around it is fluff. How many times and where and didn’t say this before, he didn’t say that after.” R. 265, ll. 21-23. Conceding that her

³ In the opening statement, the prosecutor set up this theme that Minor 1’s testimony need not be corroborated and informed the jurors that the judge would instruct the jury in this regard at the close of the case. Specifically, the prosecutor wanted “to focus” the jury’s “attention on one part of the law that the judge” would “instruct” “at the end of th[e] trial.” R. 44, ll. 1-4. That “part of the law” was that “in South Carolina a child witness’ testimony need not be corroborated.” R. 44, ll. 8-9. The prosecutor explained that the jurors could “convict someone based on a child’s testimony alone.” R. 44, l. 10. He asked the jurors “to keep that in mind” throughout the trial as various witnesses testified. R. 44, ll. 12-15.

case depended entirely upon the jury believing Minor 1's testimony, the prosecutor said, "I want you to think about this. In this case it is black and white. You either believe [Minor 1] or you think he's lying. There's no black and white. You either believe [Minor 1] or you think he's lying and I submit to you you should believe [Minor 1]." R. 266, ll. 3-9.

Oddly, the prosecutor argued to the jurors that Minor 1's testimony was corroborated by his own testimony and by his mother's testimony.

And you think a kid can make up the fact that he looked through magazines and that there was a picture of a man with a woman with a penis? Woman with a penis. Well, here's our corroboration. Here's another reason you should believe [Minor 1]. Because [Minor 1] said there was a man with a penis in the magazine and he says one of the times when [Appellant] did this to me he made me wear a dress. What did Tara tell you? Our marriage started falling apart in August because he wanted to dress as a woman. That's corroboration.

R. 269, ll. 2-12.

To counter the anticipated defense argument that the state lacked any physical evidence to support its case, the prosecutor "remind[ed]" the jury "about the charge you are going to hear that a child's testimony does not need to be corroborated." R. 270, ll. 15-19. In the prosecutor's opinion, the reason for such a charge was "because you rarely have that physical evidence." R. 270, ll. 19-21.

Jury Charge

During the charge on the law, the judge instructed the jurors how to evaluate the credibility of child witnesses.

Now, during this trial you heard testimony from a child. Where a witness is a child you must determine as with any witness whether that testimony is believable. In deciding believability you may consider not only matters that I have already discussed with you, but you may also consider the age of the child, the child's ability to observe and remember facts and the child's ability to understand and answer questions. Because young children may not fully understand what is happening here, it is up to you to decide whether the child understood the seriousness of appearing as a witness at this criminal trial, whether

the child understood the questions, whether the child has a good memory, and whether the child understands the difference between lying and telling the truth.

In addition, young children may be influenced by the way the questions are asked. It is up to you to decide whether the child understood the questions asked.

R. 315, l. 11 – R. 316, l. 6. This instruction was not given during the general charge on how to evaluate the credibility of witnesses. Instead, this section appeared after the instruction to the jury not to consider the fact that Appellant did not testify and consideration of expert witnesses. Cf. R. 311, l. 22 – R. 313, l. 18 with R. 312, l. 19 – R. 315, l. 10.

Immediately after the instruction regarding children as witnesses, the judge instructed the jury concerning the “no corroboration” rule. Specifically, the judge instructed:

Now, ladies and gentleman, I further charge you that the testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in prosecutions under Sections 16-3-652 through 16-3-658 and I further charge you that this offense is alleged to be a violation of Section 16-3-655.

R. 316, ll. 7-12.

Following this instruction, the judge read the indictment to the jurors yet again. R. 316, l. 13 – R. 317, l. 1. Thereafter, the judge instructed the jury on the elements of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree. R. 317, ll. 2-25. The final instruction to the jury concerned completion of the verdict form and unanimity. R. 318, l. 1 – R. 322, l. 18.

Objection

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