STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

APR 27 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2016-000670

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES ARCHIE CREWS, IV,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.  
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

140 N. Main Street, Suite 102  
Summerville, South Carolina 29483  
(843) 871-2640

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

## ARGUMENT

**Following our Supreme Court's decision in State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016), which was reached after Appellant's trial, any error stemming from the trial court charging the jury pursuant S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657 regarding non-corroboration was an insubstantial error not affecting the result of Appellant's trial and is therefore harmless.**

During its jury charge, the trial court instructed the jury that the victim's testimony in a first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor case need not be corroborated.<sup>2</sup> Specifically, the trial court charged:

Now, ladies and gentlemen, I further charge you that the testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in prosecutions under Sections 16-3-652 through 16-3-658 and I further charge you that this offense is alleged to be a violation of Section 16-3-655.

(R. 316). At the time of Appellant's trial, this particular jury instruction had been deemed an appropriate charge consistent with the legislature's remedial intent pursuant to the Supreme Court's decision in State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 117-18, 631 S.E.2d 244, 250 (2006).

Less than two months after Appellant's trial, the Supreme Court determined the statutory non-corroboration charge was confusing and unconstitutional in State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016). In that case, the trial court instructed the jury on the statutory non-corroboration language from S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657. During its deliberations, the jury sent the trial court a note, asking: "[T]he South Carolina law that the victim's testimony in CSC . . . does not need to be corroborated, . . . does that law imply that the victim's testimony must be accepted as being true?" Rather than respond directly to the jury's question, the trial court recharged the general law on credibility. The jury immediately returned a guilty verdict. Stukes, 416 S.C. at 497, 787 S.E.2d at 482. On appeal, the Supreme Court concluded the non-corroboration charge was "confusing and violative of the constitutional provision prohibiting

---

<sup>2</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657 provides: "The testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in prosecutions under §§ 16-3-652 through 16-3-658." Instructing the jury on this statute was first found acceptable in State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993).

courts from commenting to the jury on the facts of a case.” Id. at 493, 787 S.E.2d at 483 (citing S.C. Const. art. V, § 21 (“Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law.”)). The Court further instructed:

[I]t is not within the province of the court to express an opinion to the jury on its view of the facts. By addressing the veracity of a victim’s testimony in its instructions, the trial court emphasizes the weight of that evidence in the eyes of the jury. The charge invites the jury to believe the victim, explaining that to confirm the authenticity of her statement, the jury need only hear her speak.

Id. The Supreme Court observed “it is inescapable that this charge confused the jury” as “illustrated by the jury’s query as to whether our law implies a victim’s testimony **must** be accepted as being true.” Id. at 499, 787 S.E.2d at 483 (emphasis in original).

Addressing the trial court’s reaction to the jury note, the Supreme Court explained, “In our view the trial court’s decision to merely recharge credibility, as opposed to answer the question in the negative, did nothing to inform the jury on this issue.” Id. Reviewing for harmless error, the Supreme Court found the instruction was prejudicial because “th[e] case hinged on credibility. [The v]ictim said it was rape; [the defendant] said it was consensual.” Id.

Weeks later, this Court addressed the propriety of the statutory non-corroboration charge in State v. McBride, 416 S.C. 379, 394, 786 S.E.2d 435, 442 (Ct. App. 2016). Referencing the Supreme Court’s recent decision in Stukes, this Court agreed the charge was erroneous. Id. However, this Court found the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and declined to grant McBride a new trial. Id. This Court reasoned:

“[u]nlike the situation in Stukes, there was corroborating evidence in this case. The victim’s mother testified she smelled men’s cologne and saw the stain on the victim’s shirt. The mother’s sister testified she confronted McBride and he said he did not mean to do it, and “tr[ied] to compromise with [her].” The sister described it as McBride’s confession. Thus, although the jury was erroneously

charged section 16-3-657, we find the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Id.

In the present case, Appellant asserts the trial court's non-corroboration charge is unconstitutional in light of Stukes and constitutes reversible error entitling him to a new trial. Appellant argues this error cannot be harmless because the State's case hinged entirely on the minor victim's credibility without any corroborating evidence. Furthermore, Appellant contends the minor victim's trial testimony "differed significantly" from his prior sworn testimony and forensic interview, thereby heightening the prejudicial effect of the trial court's erroneous charge. Appellant concludes the jury was left with only one option—to convict Appellant of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor—based on the trial court's non-corroboration charge. While the State is not disputing Appellant's assertion that the trial court's jury instruction was erroneous in light of the subsequently-issued Stukes decision, under the specific facts and circumstances of Appellant's case, any error that resulted from the presentation of the non-corroboration charge was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and did not render Appellant's trial so fundamentally unfair as to warrant a new trial.

Importantly, after an error is discovered, an appellate court must determine whether the error was harmless before reaching a decision in a criminal appeal. See State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 217, 641 S.E.2d 873, 878 (2007) ("Determining the trial judge committed error is the first step of our analysis. Next we must determine whether the error was harmless."). An error is considered to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). The harmlessness of an error generally depends on the materiality of the error in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003). "No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather,

the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010). Critically, appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991); see State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.”).

Here, any error resulting from the trial court’s decision to instruct the jury on the statutory non-corroboration language was harmless because it could not have had any impact on the verdict. Initially, the jury’s inquiry as to whether Victim’s sister would or could have testified establishes the jury was considering (and perhaps searching for) corroboration to support Victim’s testimony, which demonstrates the jury thoroughly evaluated the credibility of the Victim’s testimony—including in regard to whether it was sufficiently corroborated—even after being presented with the non-corroboration charge. See Court’s Ex. No. 4. (R. 336). In light of that fact, it is illogical to assume that the non-corroboration charge would have resulted in the jury’s guilty verdict. Beyond that key factor, the present case is highly distinguishable from Stukes, where the jury was clearly confused and appeared to “inescapably” misunderstand the instruction based on its note to the trial court. Unlike the jury in Stukes, the jury in Appellant’s case did not send a question expressing confusion over the non-corroboration instruction, but rather, appeared to ignore the instruction altogether based on the jury note it did submit, which appeared to question the absence of testimony that could have potentially corroborated Victim’s claims of sexual abuse. Similarly, aspects of Victim’s testimony were corroborated, including Appellant dressing in female clothing. Moreover, aside from the testimony and evidence

presented by the State, Appellant—unlike the defendant in Stukes—elected **not** to testify in his own defense during his trial, did not refute Victim’s testimony about what had occurred, and did not offer any explanation or theory in regard to why Victim would fabricate a claim of repeated sexual assaults. Therefore, in this case, unlike in Stukes, the non-corroboration charge was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and reversal is not warranted. See McBride, 416 S.C. at 394, 786 S.E.2d at 442 (finding any error in the trial court’s non-corroboration charge was harmless).

Furthermore and most importantly, any purported prejudice Appellant suffered from the trial court’s non-corroboration instruction was significantly outweighed and effectively eliminated by the enormous benefit Appellant derived from the trial court’s presentation of an extensive improper charge on evaluating the credibility of juvenile witnesses, which encouraged the jury to give heightened scrutiny to the testimony of Victim, who was the lone juvenile witness to testify during trial. This improper charge, which the trial court gave **directly before** the non-corroboration charge, singled out Victim and conveyed to the jury that his testimony should be more heavily scrutinized than all the other witnesses who testified at trial. In particular, this charge suggests juvenile witnesses are less likely to remember things accurately, are less likely to know the difference between a truth and a lie, are less likely to appreciate the seriousness of the proceedings, and are more easily lead. This charge is a misleading and incorrect statement of law as these are issues that could potentially plague all witnesses regardless of their age.<sup>3</sup> Moreover, by commenting on the veracity of juvenile witnesses, the trial court erroneously gave an impermissible and unconstitutional charge on the facts that invaded the province of the jury. See S.C. Const. art. V, § 21 (“Judges shall not charge juries in respect to

---

<sup>3</sup> Notably, juvenile witnesses are presumed to be competent like any other witness in South Carolina unless a showing to the contrary is made. See Rule 601, SCRE (“Every person is competent to be a witness except as otherwise provided by statute or these rules.”); see also 32 S.C. Jur. Witnesses § 6 (“Under the current rule, children are presumed to be competent unless it is shown otherwise.”).

matters of fact, but shall declare the law.”); Stukes, 416 S.C. at 499, 787 S.E.2d at 483 (“[I]t is not within the province of the court to express an opinion to the jury on its view of the facts. By addressing the veracity of a victim’s testimony in its instructions, the trial court emphasizes the weight of that evidence in the eyes of the jury.”); State v. Cheeks, 401 S.C. 322, 329, 737 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2013) (“[W]e hold that the ‘strong evidence’ charge is improper as an expression of the judge’s view of the weight of certain evidence.”); State v. Collins, 266 S.C. 566, 225 S.E.2d 189 (1976) (“Any further instruction on [whether the witness is fearful of retribution or has any hope of leniency from the prosecution] might have invaded the province of the jury to draw inferences from the evidence.”); State v. Thorne, 237 S.C. 248, 251, 116 S.E.2d 854, 855 (1960) (“The Judge must be careful to avoid expressing, or even intimating, any opinion, as to the facts, and if he does so, whether intentionally or unintentionally, a new trial must be granted. Under our Constitution the jury is the exclusive judge of the facts, and the true meaning and real object is that the jury must be left to form its own judgment, unbiased by any expressions, or even intimations, of opinion by the Judge.”). In light of the vast benefit Appellant received from the trial court’s unconstitutional charge pertaining to the credibility of juvenile witnesses, any error stemming from the court’s non-corroboration charge is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Accordingly, based on the foregoing, the trial court’s presentation of a jury instruction on the statutory non-corroboration language could not have had any impact on the outcome of Appellant’s case. See Fletcher, 379 S.C. at 25, 664 S.E.2d at 484 (“Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”); see also State v. Tench, 353 S.C. 531, 537, 579 S.E.2d 314, 317 (2003) (“Given the abundant evidence of Tench’s guilt, we find any error in admission of the seized items clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.”); cf. State v. Jenkins, 412 S.C. 643, 651-653, 773 S.E.2d 906, 910-911 (2015) (concluding any

error resulting from the admission of DNA evidence linking Jenkins's to a sexual assault to be entirely harmless and rejecting a conclusion "the case boiled down to a credibility contest" in light of the fact the victim's account of the sexual assault was supported by abundant independent evidence, including testimony regarding the victim's injuries, the presence of semen in the victim's body, the condition of the victim's home following the reported assault, the fingerprint evidence connecting Jenkins to the victim's home, the discovery of Jenkins in close proximity to the victim's home, and the victim's positive identification of Jenkins as her attacker). As a result, any error in the presentation of the recently-invalidated statutory non-corroboration jury instruction was entirely harmless in Appellant's case, and Appellant did not sustain actual prejudice from its presentation to the jury such that the harsh remedy of a reversal of his convictions was warranted on appeal. See United States v. Hastings, 461 U.S. 499, 509 (1983) ("[T]he [United States Supreme] Court has consistently made clear it is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations[.]"); see also Calderon v. California, 525 U.S. 141, 146 (1998) ("The social costs of retrial or resentencing are significant. . . . The State is not to be put to this arduous task based on mere speculation that the defendant was prejudiced by trial error; the court must find that the defendant was actually prejudiced by the error." (citations omitted)); State v. Wyatt, 317 S.C. 370, 372, 453 S.E.2d 890, 891 (1995) ("While we agree there was error, appellant cannot show sufficient prejudice from it to warrant reversal."). Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup>If this Court should grant Appellant a new trial based on the unconstitutional nature of the non-corroboration charge, this Court should also declare the trial court's credibility of juvenile witnesses unconstitutional and bar its use during Appellant's retrial or any other future trials.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the judgment and conviction of the lower court.